
CITY OF RAINIER
CASH ON HAND/GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION REPORT
CHECKING ACCOUNTS AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT POOL ACCOUNT
7/1/2022-7/31/2022

ACCOUNT REGISTER SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance 312,745.97
PERS Deposits - 

New Ending Balance 312,745.97 0.00 0.00 312,745.97

BANK STATEMENT SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-1 34,341.93
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-2 343,813.03
Deposits not Shown on Statement 6,558.77
Outstanding Cks and Other Debits 49,069.17
PERS Outstanding 22,898.59
PERS Adjustment
Ending Balance 378,154.96 71,967.76 6,558.77 312,745.97 0.00

LGIP STATEMENT SUMMARY
Beginning Balance 7,088,419.00
Deposits 18,962.69
Withdrawals 100,000.00
Interest 7,492.59
S/C 0.10
Ending Balance 7,088,419.00 100,000.10 26,455.28 7,014,874.18

TOTAL CASH 7,327,620.15

GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION
7/1/2022-7/31/2022

07/01/22 07/31/22
Beginning Total Total Ending

Fund Balance Revenue Expense Liabilities Balance
10 General 2,203,526.88 639,708.15 692,864.30 2,150,370.73
20 Debt 364,096.00 0.00 10,361.00 353,735.00
30 Sewer 526,709.81 48,818.06 62,827.84 512,700.03
40 Water 347,749.91 69,995.40 57,102.06 360,643.25
50 Timber 1,709,273.83 0.00 8,400.00 1,700,873.83
60 Street 221,665.91 14,549.17 12,350.51 223,864.57
65 0.00 0.00
70 0.00 0.00
81 Special Projects 285,413.90 0.00 1,409.27 284,004.63
83 Sewer Capital 954,527.01 0.00 8,783.92 945,743.09
84 Water Capital 357,303.02 4,063.33 8,126.66 353,239.69
85 Transportation Capital 353,546.92 0.00 0.00 353,546.92
90 Library Trust 88,908.07 52.11 61.77 88,898.41

General Ledger Total 7,412,721.26 7,327,620.15 0.00

Completed by:______ Date:_______ Approved by: ______ Date:________ 



CITY OF RAINIER
CASH ON HAND/GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION REPORT
CHECKING ACCOUNTS AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT POOL ACCOUNT
6/1/2022-6/30/2022

ACCOUNT REGISTER SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance 324,302.26
PERS Deposits - 

New Ending Balance 324,302.26 0.00 0.00 324,302.26

BANK STATEMENT SUMMARY CKS/DEBITS DEP/CREDITS
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-1 34,340.47
Ending Balance SHCU 760072-2 382,982.59
Deposits not Shown on Statement 2,278.92
Outstanding Cks and Other Debits 73,749.36
PERS Outstanding 21,550.36
PERS Adjustment
Ending Balance 417,323.06 95,299.72 2,278.92 324,302.26 0.00

LGIP STATEMENT SUMMARY
Beginning Balance 7,302,821.30
Deposits 30,096.86
Withdrawals 250,000.00
Interest 5,500.94
S/C 0.10
Ending Balance 7,302,821.30 250,000.10 35,597.80 7,088,419.00

TOTAL CASH 7,412,721.26

GENERAL LEDGER RECONCILIATION
6/1/2022-6/30/2022

06/01/22 06/30/22
Beginning Total Total Ending

Fund Balance Revenue Expense Liabilities Balance
10 General 2,478,004.67 386,762.85 661,240.64 2,203,526.88
20 Debt 364,096.00 0.00 0.00 364,096.00
30 Sewer 499,640.76 91,661.28 64,592.23 526,709.81
40 Water 334,253.78 86,545.05 73,048.92 347,749.91
50 Timber 1,716,286.63 5,172.59 12,185.39 1,709,273.83
60 Street 221,062.15 16,001.39 15,397.63 221,665.91
65 0.00 0.00
70 0.00 0.00
81 Special Projects 247,349.79 165,000.00 126,935.89 285,413.90
83 Sewer Capital 954,527.01 0.00 0.00 954,527.01
84 Water Capital 365,618.38 8,315.36 16,630.72 357,303.02
85 Transportation Capital 353,546.92 0.00 0.00 353,546.92
90 Library Trust 89,607.04 52.11 751.08 88,908.07

General Ledger Total 7,623,993.13 7,412,721.26 0.00

Completed by:______ Date:_______ Approved by: ______ Date:________ 



City of Rainier
2022/2023 Budget Year
7/31/2022 Income/Expense
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,591,980 47,013 2.95%
Expenditures 1,440,361 100,082 6.95%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,487,053 48,793 3.28%
Expenditures 1,778,036 62,803 3.53%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 967,000 65,426 6.77%
Expenditures 1,177,491 52,552 4.46%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Timber Fund YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 0 0 #DIV/0!
Expenditures 254,412 8,400 3.30%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 259,059 14,549 5.62%
Expenditures 453,555 12,351 2.72%

*Excludes Beginning Balance



City of Rainier
2021/2022 Budget Year
6/30/2022 Income/Expense
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,563,290 1,621,537 103.73%
Expenditures 1,778,290 1,547,007 86.99%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,468,913 1,603,290 109.15%
Expenditures 1,732,561 1,650,766 95.28%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 957,000 951,440 99.42%
Expenditures 1,235,198 1,161,009 93.99%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Timber Fund YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 180,000 514,494 285.83%
Expenditures 520,512 62,078 11.93%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 248,382 271,078 109.14%
Expenditures 333,065 310,917 93.35%

*Excludes Beginning Balance



City of Rainier
2022/2023 Budget Year
7/31/2022
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds
Budget Variance by Appropriation

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,591,980 47,013 2.95%
Expenditures

10 General Government 91,143 3,300 3.62%
20 City Building Maintenance 17,500 360 2.05%
30 Land Use & Development 30,058 1,503 5.00%
50 Library 73,960 620 0.84%
60 Attorney 9,600 300 3.13%
70 Finance & Administration 49,731 3,586 7.21%
80 Municipal Court 62,585 7,379 11.79%
90 Public Properties 179,423 10,485 5.84%

100 Police Department 926,361 72,549 7.83%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,487,053 48,793 3.28%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 451,696 42,508 9.41%
Material & Services 315,100 20,295 6.44%
Capital Outlay 7,500 0 0.00%
Transfers 955,740 0 0.00%
Contingencies 48,000 0 0.00%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 967,000 65,426 6.77%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 486,105 45,524 9.37%
Material & Services 212,550 7,029 3.31%
Capital Outlay 7,500 0 0.00%
Transfers 462,336 0 0.00%
Contingencies 9,000 0 0.00%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Timber Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 0 0 0.00%
Expenditures
Material & Services 90,300 8,400 9.30%
Capital Outlay 14,000 0 0.00%
Contingencies 50,000 0 0.00%
Propery Purchase Reserve 100,112 0 0.00%

2022/2023 7/31/2022 7/31/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 259,059 14,549 5.62%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 68,076 7,782 11.43%
Material & Services 126,150 4,568 3.62%
Capital Outlay 7,500 0 0.00%
Contingencies 27,000 0 0.00%
Transfers 224,829 0 0.00%

*Excludes Beginning Balance 



City of Rainier
2021/2022 Budget Year
6/30/2022
Budget Compared to Actual-Major Funds
Budget Variance by Appropriation

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
General Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,563,290 1,621,537 103.73%
Expenditures

10 General Government 388,638 349,067 89.82%
20 City Building Maintenance 13,500 6,640 49.19%
30 Land Use & Development 27,425 22,473 81.94%
50 Library 68,800 77,492 112.63%
60 Attorney 7,500 8,692 115.89%
70 Finance & Administration 56,117 45,655 81.36%
80 Municipal Court 61,084 55,128 90.25%
90 Public Properties 189,483 147,076 77.62%

100 Police Department 965,743 834,784 86.44%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Sewer Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 1,468,913 1,603,290 109.15%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 454,307 429,832 94.61%
Material & Services 278,000 291,701 104.93%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 956,944 929,233 97.10%
Contingencies 43,310 0 0.00%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Water Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 957,000 951,440 99.42%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 488,346 464,662 95.15%
Material & Services 192,320 183,967 95.66%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Transfers 512,382 512,381 100.00%
Contingencies 42,150 0 0.00%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Timber Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 180,000 514,494 285.83%
Expenditures
Material & Services 80,400 56,485 70.26%
Capital Outlay 65,000 5,593 8.60%
Contingencies 300,000 0 0.00%
Propery Purchase Reserve 75,112 0 0.00%

2021/2022 6/30/2022 6/30/2022
Street Fund  Budget YTD Actual YTD % Variance
*Revenue 248,382 271,078 109.14%
Expenditures
Personnel Services 66,643 70,155 105.27%
Material & Services 118,150 94,634 80.10%
Capital Outlay 0 0 0.00%
Contingencies 2,144 0 0.00%
Transfers 146,128 146,128 100.00%

*Excludes Beginning Balance 



 

1 
 

 

City of Rainier 

Regular City Council Meeting 

July 25, 2022 

6 p.m. 

Rainier City Hall 

 

Mayor Jerry Cole called the council meeting to order at 6:06 p.m.  

 

Council Present: Connie Budge, Robert duPlessis, Jeremy Howell, Mike Kreger and Denise 

Watson  

 

Council Absent: Scott Cooper and Levi Richardson 

 

City Attorney Present: No 

 

City Staff Present: Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder; Gregg Griffith, Police Chief; W. Scott 

Jorgensen, City Administrator; Sue Lawrence, Public Works Director 

  

Flag Salute 

 

Additions/Deletions from the Agenda: Public Works Director Sue Lawrence said she wanted 

to add the second phase of the Water Master Plan and Infiltration and Inflow smoke testing to 

the agenda. Council President Mike Kreger moved to add the second phase of the Water Master 

Plan study to the agenda. That motion was seconded by Councilor Jeremy Howell and adopted 

unanimously. Councilor Connie Budge moved to add the Infiltration and Inflow smoke testing 

to the agenda. That motion was seconded by Kreger and adopted unanimously. 

 

Mayor’s Address: Cole presented Darlene Lavelle with a plaque honoring her years of service 

to the city. He said Rainier Days was a success and presented plaques to the police department 

and city hall staff. Cole said he already presented the public works department with its plaque 

and displayed the Rainier Days wrestling championship belt that he won during the event.   

 

Visitor Comments: Veronica Edwards said there have been complaints about her dogs being 

loud. Her family brings them in at night. An officer came to her house today regarding a 

complaint. Cole referred any questions they may have about any possible nuisance ordinance 

violations to Police Chief Gregg Griffith.  

  

Consider Approval of the Consent Agenda 

Consider Approval of the June 27, 2022 Regular Council Meeting Minutes— Kreger moved 

to approve the consent agenda. That motion was seconded by Councilor Denise Watson and 

adopted unanimously.  
 

      New Business 

a. Recognition of Darlene Lavelle’s Service to the City of Rainier 

b. Hudson Garbage Rate Increase Request—Josh Brown from Hudson Garbage said it’s  

    been a challenging year for the company, with multiple increases to its cost structure.  

    Those include higher costs for wages and fuel and supply chair issues. Columbia   

    County increased its tipping fee 8.5 percent as of July 1. The request is for an 8.5  

    percent increase. Last year, council approved a 2.6 percent increase. Budge moved to  



 

2 
 

    approve the rate increase request. That motion was seconded by Kreger and adopted  

    unanimously. 

c. Forestry Contract—City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen said the current contract  

    expired. The contract was approved by council in the spring of 2021 to replace the  

    retiring forester with Patrick McCoy. There were a couple of changes to the contract.  

    The scope of work now includes the timber master plan that council has directed  

    McCoy to put together. McCoy’s hourly rate also went from $65 to $75. Budge moved  

    to approve the contract. That motion was seconded by Watson and adopted  

    unanimously.  

d. Resolution 22-07-01—Authorizing the Adoption of a Health Reimbursement  

    Arrangement Plan—Jorgensen said the creation of the plan was included as a part of the  

    recently adopted collective bargaining agreement with city employees. Kreger moved to  

    adopt the resolution. That motion was seconded by Councilor Jeremy Howell and  

    adopted unanimously. 

e. Resolution 22-07-02—Authorizing a Loan from the Safe Drinking Water  

    Revolving Loan Fund—Lawrence explained the particulars of the loan, part of which  

    is forgivable. The funds will go towards the work on the water master plan. That plan  

    can then be used to apply for grants to replace water lines and upgrades to the system.  

    Budge moved to approve the resolution. That motion was seconded by Kreger and  

    adopted unanimously. 

 f.  Award Bid for Contract Library Services—Jorgensen said the city received a proposal  

                from a company owned by Allen Snider, who has been serving as the substitute librarian.  

                The proposed contract was based on input from the library board and agreements  

                between Jackson County and a private company that runs its libraries, and Josephine  

                County and the nonprofit that ran its library system. Snider has provided excellent  

                customer service and is working well with city staff and the library board. Kreger moved  

                to award the bid to Mirrored Lamp LLC. That motion was seconded by Howell and  

                adopted unanimously. 

 g. Library Board Appointment—Cole said that Sharon Erdman has applied for the vacant  

                position and recommends her appointment. Kreger moved to appoint Erdman to the  

                board. That motion was seconded by Watson and adopted unanimously.   

 h. Award Bid for Fir Street Mainline Replacement—Lawrence said there is a water leak  

                along Fir Street. It’s an old steel line with black wrapping and beyond repair. The line  

                has already been repaired multiple times and should just be replaced. She put together  

                an estimate of around $19,000 for supplies, but public works staff will do the actual  

                installation. Budge moved to approve the bid. That motion was seconded by Kreger and  

                adopted unanimously. 

 i.  Award Bid for Design of Upgrading Existing Public Works Shop Building—Lawrence  

                said the current shop is in disrepair and that presents safety issues. She met with a  

                structural engineer to get an estimate. It came out to around $19,000. Kreger moved to  

                approve the bid. That motion was seconded by Councilor Robert duPlessis and adopted  

                unanimously. 

j. Committee Liaisons—Jorgensen said he put together the brief that was included in the  

    council packet. Councilors can serve as liaisons to the committees, departments and city  

    assets that he listed on there. Councilor Levi Richardson serves as chair of the parks  

    committee and can act as its liaison. Budge has been attending library board meetings,  

    so she can be the council liaison for that body. Councilor Scott Cooper is on the senior  

    center’s board of directors and can be its liaison. Council agreed to those liaison  

    assignments by consensus. Kreger will serve as the Planning Commission liaison, Cole  

    will continue to serve as liaison to the city administration and police departments,  



 

3 
 

 

  duPlessis and Howell will both be public works liaisons and Watson will be liaison to the  

  city watershed. Cooper will also be the IT liaison.  

          k. League of Oregon Cities Legislative Priorities—Jorgensen said the LOC has asked cities  

              to identify the top five issues they would like that organization to work on during the 2023  

              regular legislative session. He recommended full funding and alignment for state land use  

              initiatives, addressing Measure 110 shortcomings, marijuana taxes, transportation safety  

              enhancement and funding for recovery of abandoned recreational vehicles. Council  

              agreed by consensus.  

          l.  Water Master Plan Second Phase—Lawrence said the scope of work will include a  

              geotech and seismic safety evaluation of the city’s reservoirs and water plant, with an  

              amount not to exceed $67,000. Budge moved to approve the Water Master Plan second  

              phase. That motion was seconded by Kreger and adopted unanimously. 

        m.  Infiltration and Inflow Smoke Testing—Cole said this will help the city with its DEQ  

              compliance issues. Lawrence said the scope of work is being developed and estimates the  

              cost to be around $58,000. The smoke testing will be done for the other half of the system  

              that wasn’t tested the last time. It will be mostly the east side of town and Dyke Road  

              area. Kreger moved to approve the infiltration and inflow testing not to exceed $60,000.  

              That motion was seconded by Howell and adopted unanimously. 

 

     7. Unfinished Business 

a. Award Bid for Security Cameras—Jorgensen said that Cooper had been in touch with  

    the vendor to answer the questions he had. The major question was about retention. Staff  

    and Cooper agreed that 30 days would be sufficient to meet the city’s needs. Going to   

    60 or 90 day retention would cost a lot more with little benefit to the city. Budge moved  

    to award the bid. That motion was seconded by Kreger and adopted unanimously. 

b. Second Reading of Ordinance 1082—Pertaining to Flood Damage Prevention  

    in the City of Rainier—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance. That motion was  

    seconded by Watson and adopted unanimously, with Budge abstaining.  

c. Second Reading of Ordinance 1083—Regarding the Annexation of  

    Contiguous Properties and Annexation of Properties that are a Danger to  

    Public Health—Kreger moved to approve the ordinance. That motion was seconded by  

    Howell and adopted unanimously. 

          d.  Second Reading of Ordinance 1084—Repealing Ordinance 1055—Kreger moved to  

               approve the ordinance. That motion was seconded by duPlessis and adopted  

               unanimously. 

          e.  Second Reading of Ordinance 1085—To Amend the Rainier Zoning Code Text:  

    Chapter 18.50.050, Sections C 2(a) and D 2(a)—Quality of Materials—Kreger moved  

    to approve the ordinance. That motion was seconded by Watson and adopted  

    unanimously. 

f.  Fox Creek Update—There was no update at this time.  

 g. Senior and Multigenerational Housing—Cole said it’s time to get a committee formed.  

                Jorgensen put together a memo that was included in the council packet. The committee  

                can be a subcommittee of the planning commission and charged with examining the  

                possible rezoning of some properties to encourage more housing development,  

                including a possible text amendment for the central business district code to allow for  

                more flexibility. The committee can be used as part of the urban growth boundary land  

                swap process to determine which properties could be added to the UGB to facilitate  

                more housing development and make recommendations to the planning commission.  

                Councilors Budge and Howell agreed to serve on the committee. Cole directed  



 

4 
 

                Jorgensen to start advertising the formation of the committee and soliciting community  

                members to participate. Council will appoint members at its September meeting and  

                the subcommittee can have its first meeting later on that month or in October.  

 

     8. Staff Report—Griffith said the police department is processing ordinance violation  

            complaints. Lawrence said she has been providing data to the consultant who is putting  

            together the park master plan. She’s looking at making improvements to the park restrooms  

            to make them open year-round and with another path leading to them. There have been  

            issues with a sewer lateral on 4th Street, repairs are being made to the boat launch area and  

            site prep work is being done for the new gazebo. Jorgensen attended a ribbon cutting  

            ceremony for Marvelous Mosaic, met with the park consultant and has been acting as  

            library board secretary. He’s been meeting with the senior center about updating the city’s  

            agreement for that facility, did the city’s annual insurance renewal and attended a meeting  

            about the upcoming Lewis and Clark Bridge closure with Cole, Kreger and Lawrence.  

 a. Approve Financial Statements—Kreger moved to approve the financial statements. That  

               motion was seconded by Howell and adopted unanimously.   

     9. Council Reports 

   10. City Calendar/Announcements—The next council meeting is scheduled for September     

         12.  

      

      Cole adjourned the regular council meeting at 7:52 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 

Mayor Jerry Cole                         W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator   

 

 

 

 

 





















































 

 

LAND USE CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

Skip Urling, Urling Planning Associates 

 

 

September 13, 2022 

 

 

 

A CONTRACT between CITY OF RAINIER, OREGON, a municipal corporation (“the 

City”) and Skip Urling, Urling Planning Associates, (“Consultant”). 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Consultant believe it in their mutual interest to enter into a 

written contract setting out their understandings concerning Consultant’s provision of 

services as a Land Use Planning Consultant. 

 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

 

1. Except for claims arising solely from the negligence of CITY, its employees or 

agents, CONSULTANT agrees to indemnify and hold CITY harmless from and 

against all actions, suits, claims or demands for loss or damages, including 

property damage, personal injury and wrongful death, arising out of or in 

connection with CONSULTANT’S performance of his duties under this 

agreement, including any claims for attorney fees and costs. 

 

2. CONSULTANT to maintain insurance during the course of this agreement for 

general liability in the amount of $1,000,000 (one million dollars), per-person 

medical protection in the amount of $10,000 (ten thousand dollars), and per-

incident fire protection in the amount of $100,000 (one hundred thousand 

dollars).  CONSULTANT shall provide a copy of policy or Certificate of 

Insurance to CITY upon request of the CITY. 

 

 

3. CONSULTANT will be working as an independent contractor and will be 

responsible for any federal or state taxes applicable to services rendered by 

CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT will be responsible to provide for his 

employees and to this agreement for federal social security, unemployment 

insurance or Public Employee’s Retirement System benefits. 

 

4. The CITY agrees to pay CONSULTANT at the fixed price flat rate of $125.00 

per hour excepting costs for Consultant’s use of his personal vehicle for which 

he shall be reimbursed at the current rate established by the Internal Revenue 

Service. The total amount for planning services for the 2022-23 fiscal year shall 

not exceed $12,000.  

 



 

 

5. CONSULTANT acknowledges that he is familiar with all state, federal, and 

local laws, rules and regulations relating to the services he is to provide pursuant 

to this agreement and agrees to fully abide by the same. 

 

6. This agreement may be terminated at any time by either party and without cause 

upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other party.  This agreement may be 

terminated immediately upon the breach by CONSULTANT of any of the terms 

or conditions of this agreement.  Upon termination CONSULTANT shall be 

paid for work completed up to the time of termination. 

 

7. All work product of the CONSULTANT, including notes and sources of 

information, are the exclusive property of the CITY and shall be given promptly 

to the CITY upon request of the CITY.  CONSULTANT consents to the 

dissemination of such work products at the discretion of the CITY. 

 

8. CONSULTANT shall have no right of access or right to use any CITY facilities, 

equipment, or supplies without prior approval of the CITY. 

 

9. CONSULTANT shall not enter into any subcontract for any work performed 

under this agreement without obtaining prior written approval from the CITY. 

 

10. CONSULTANT shall confer with the City Manager prior to the start of each 

task for the purpose of assigning responsibilities to the CONSULTANT, to City 

staff, or to other consultants or contractors. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the Agreement on the day and 

year first above written. 

 

 

CONSULTANT    CITY   

      City of Rainier, a Municipal Corporation  

 

 

 

By:__________________________     By:____________________________ 

      Skip Urling          

 

 

 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 1 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

 

THIS LEASE, made and entered into the 1st day of September, 2022, between the CITY 

OF RAINIER, OREGON, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as “City,” and 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER hereinafter referred to as “Operator.” 

 

The parties agree to the following recitals: 

 

a. The City applied for and received a Community Development Block Grant for the 

development and construction of the Rainier Senior Center. 

 

b. Operator acknowledges that it neither has nor makes any claim of ownership of a 

kind or nature to the real property that is the subject of this Lease known as the 

Rainier Senior Center. 

 

 Based upon the above recitals and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, 

City grants to Operator an exclusive tenancy to operate and manage the Rainier Senior Center 

building located at 48 W. 7th Street, Rainier, Oregon, for the term stated in this Lease and subject 

to the authority and control of the City and to the conditions of this Lease. 

 

TERM: 

 

The term of this Lease shall commence upon execution of this Lease and continue for sixty 

(60) months.  Either party may request renegotiation of this Lease after twelve (12) months of the 

term have elapsed. 

 

CONSIDERATION: 

 

As consideration for this Lease, Operator shall maintain operation of the Rainier Senior 

Center at least Monday through Friday, excluding Public Holidays all year. 

 

RENEWAL OF OCCUPANCY: 

 

The City agrees to discuss with Operator an extension of this Lease for an additional term.  

Operator shall notify the City in writing of its desire to renew this Lease prior to the first day of 

the fifty-second (52) month of the Lease.  Thereafter, the City, or its designee, and Operator, acting 

through a designated agent, shall meet to discuss the renewal of this Lease with the terms and 

conditions of renewal.  Agreement for renewal shall be reached by the last day of the sixtieth (60) 

month of the term of this Lease or any subsequent Leases.  If agreement has not been reached, 

Operator shall vacate the premises by the last day of the initial term of the Lease pursuant to 

SURRENDER AT EXPIRATION, below. 
  



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 2 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

CONTROL: 

 

The City shall have the ultimate authority to make all decisions with respect to the 

management and operation of the Senior Center Building and in accordance with the Building 

Policy as adopted by the Operator and approved by the City. 

 

REPORTS: 

 

1. Operating Report(s): Operator agrees to have a representative appear before regularly 

scheduled meetings of the Rainier City Council two times per year to provide a presentation 

and report regarding the operation of the Senior Center.  Each report shall cover the 

following topics together with any other significant information relating to the Senior 

Center: 

 

a. Condition of premises and anticipated repairs, based on the input from the City’s 

Public Works Director  

b. Individuals, groups and organizations having used the facilities; and type of use and 

estimated number of people participating and events held at the facility. The City 

reserves the right to conduct walk-through inspections as needed, or upon 

Operator’s request. Any inspections done at the City’s request will be preceded by 

a written notice. 

c.   Operator agrees to disclose any proposed capital improvements to the facility, the 

related costs and any City contributions to enable those improvements.  

2. Financial Disclosures: Operator shall make available to the City, immediately upon 

request, any and all financial records necessary to ensure and confirm Operator’s solvency, 

regulatory compliance and financial ability to uphold the terms of this agreement.  

3. List of Officers: Operator shall make available to the City a copy of the Senior Center’s 

list of Officers on July 1st of each year.  Operator shall provide the City with an updated 

list of Officers whenever there is a change in a Board position. 

OBLIGATIONS OF OPERATOR: 

 

Operator shall be obligated to pay or provide the following during the term of this Lease: 

a. All taxes upon Operator's personal property on the premises, including fixtures and 

equipment. 

b. All charges for heat, light, power, and other services or utilities, except sewer, water 

and garbage service, used in the premises. 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 3 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

c. All landscaping maintenance and care, building interior cleaning and maintenance, 

and all supplies necessary for these operations. The City agrees to mow the lawn 

and the Operator agrees to maintain the flower beds. The City agrees to make any 

necessary repairs to the parking lot and sidewalks around the facility. 

d. Routine inspections of fire alarms, replacement of batteries emergency exit signs 

and other signage. 

e. Operator agrees to hold Owner harmless for any other unanticipated expenses not 

specifically mentioned in this agreement.  

g. Any interior redecorating. 

h. Any repairs necessitated by the negligence or conduct of Operator, Operator's 

agents, employees, and invitees, except where the loss or damage could have been 

covered by a standard fire insurance policy with an extended coverage 

endorsement. 

i. Any repairs or alterations required under Operator's obligation to comply with laws 

and regulations as set forth in subsection a. of this tenancy entitled USE OF 

PREMISES. 

j. Maintenance of doors, windows and replacement of glass, if the damage to the glass 

comes from inside the facility.  

k. All other repairs to premises that the City is not specifically obligated to make. 

m.  Proof of workers compensation coverage for any and all persons directly employed 

by the Operator.  

 

The City shall have the right to inspect the premises at any reasonable time to determine 

the necessity of repair. Whether or not such inspection is made, the duty of the City to make repairs 

as provided for in this Lease shall not mature until a reasonable time after the City has received 

notice from Operator that the repairs are required. Such notice shall be followed promptly by a 

written description of the scope and extent of damages and the repairs perceived to be necessary.  

Operator shall keep a written record of damage and actions initiated to repair damage and shall 

submit a copy of such record to the City at the time of occurrence.  

 

OBLIGATIONS OF CITY: 

 

The following shall be the obligation of the City: 

a. Sewer, water and garbage use charges. 

b. Structural repairs, and maintenance and repairs necessitated by structural disrepair 

or defect. 

c. Repair of interior walls, ceilings, doors, windows, floors and floor coverings when 

such repairs are made necessary because of faulty construction. 

d. All repairs or restoration made necessary by fire or by reason of war, terrorism, or 

by earthquake or other natural casualty, vandalism, malicious mischief and all other 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 4 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

risks covered by the City's property insurance, with an extended coverage 

endorsement, in force at the time of loss. 

e. Exterior repairs and maintenance that include roof, gutters, downspouts and 

exterior walls, including the painting of the exterior walls.  

f.  All maintenance and repair of the heating and air conditioning systems. 

g. All maintenance and repair of mechanical and electrical systems.  

USE OF PREMISES: 

 

The parties understand that the primary purpose for the construction of the Rainier Senior 

Center was to provide a physical facility for the providing of services to elderly people of the 

community including, but not limited to, a daily meal program, a home delivered meal program, 

social and recreational activities and educational activities. A Building Use and Rental Policy shall 

be prepared by Operator and submitted to the City for modification, amendment, addition, deletion, 

approval and adoption. A Public Hearing, after notice to affected parties, will be held prior to the 

City Council adoption or modification of the Policy.  Thereafter, Operator shall also adopt, follow 

and enforce the same.  In connection with the use of the premises, Operator shall: 

a. Conform to all applicable laws and regulations of a public authority affecting the 

premises and the use thereof and to correct at Operator's expense any failure of 

compliance created through Operator's fault or by reason of Operator's use.  

Operator shall not otherwise be required to make expenditures to comply with any 

laws or regulations, and in no event shall operator be required to make any 

structural changes to affect such compliance. 

b. Refrain from any activity which would make it impossible to insure the premises 

against casualty, would increase the insurance rate or would prevent the City from 

taking advantage of any ruling of the Oregon Insurance Rating Bureau or its 

successor allowing the City to obtain reduced premium rates for long-life insurance 

policies, unless the Operator pays the additional costs of the insurance. 

c. Refrain from any use which would be reasonably offensive to the City, other tenants 

or owners or users of adjoining premises or which would tend to create a nuisance 

or damage the reputation of the premises. 

d. Make the Senior Center available at no charge to the City for public and/or other 

meetings.  The City will be subject to the Building Use and Rental Policy. 

 

ALTERATIONS: 

 

Operator shall make no improvements or alterations on the premises of any kind without 

the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

All improvements and alterations performed on the premises by either the City or Operator 

shall be the property of the City when installed unless the applicable City's consent or work sheets 

specifically provide otherwise. 

 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 5 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

LIABILITY TO THIRD PERSONS: 

 

Except with respect to activities for which the City is responsible, the Operator shall pay 

as due all valid claims for work done and for services rendered or material furnished to the 

premises and shall keep the premises free from any liens. If Operator fails to pay any such valid 

claims or to discharge any lien, the City may do so. The amount paid by the City shall bear interest 

at the rate of five (5%) percent per annum from the date billed by the City and shall be payable on 

demand.  Such action by the City shall not constitute a waiver of any right or remedy that the City 

may have on account of Operator's default. 

 

Operator may withhold payment of any claim in connection with a good-faith dispute over 

the obligation to pay so long as the City's property interests are not jeopardized.  If a lien claim is 

filed as a result of nonpayment, Operator shall, within thirty (30) days after knowledge of the 

filing, secure the discharge of the lien or deposit with City cash or a sufficient corporate surety 

bond or other security satisfactory to the City in an amount sufficient to discharge the lien plus any 

costs, attorney fees and other charges that could accrue as a result of a foreclosure or sale under 

the lien. 

 

Operator shall save, hold harmless, indemnify and defend the City from any claim, loss or 

liability arising out of or related to any activity of Operator on the premises. Operator's duty to 

indemnify shall not apply to or prevent any valid claim by Operator against the City for injury or 

damage to Operator or Operator's property for which the City may be liable. 

 

 

During the term of this tenancy, Operator shall procure and thereafter during the term of 

this Lease shall continue to carry the following insurance with the City named as an additional 

insured: 

 

Public liability and property damage insurance in a responsible company with limits of 

not less than $1,000,000 for injury to persons in one occurrence, $2,000,000 aggregate 

and $1,000,000 for damage to property. Certificates evidencing such insurance and 

bearing endorsements requiring ten (10) days' written notice to the City prior to any 

change or cancellation shall be furnished to the City prior to Operator's occupancy of 

the property.  

 

INSURANCE: 

 

The City agrees to insure the Senior Center building, and the Operator agrees to be 

responsible for its business personal property and premises liability insurance.  

 

 

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE: 

 

No part of the leased property may be assigned, mortgaged or subleased, nor may a right 

of use of any portion of the property be conferred on any third person by any other means by 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 6 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

Operator without prior written consent of the City. This provision shall apply to all transfers by 

operation of law and transfers to and by trustees in bankruptcy, receivers, administrators, 

executors, and legatees. No consent in one instance shall prevent the provision from applying to a 

subsequent instance.  Notwithstanding this provision, Operator may sublet to Senior Nutrition and 

Pleasure Program (SNAPP) for any period of time not to exceed the Operator’s Lease. 

 

Operator shall have the right to make the premises available to third persons or 

organizations and shall have the right to retain all donations and charges resulting from the use of 

the premises by third persons or organizations. However, with respect to third parties whose use 

would not be associated with the use of the property, as that concept is defined in the paragraph 

entitled "USE OF PREMISES," Operator shall adhere to the City's policies for the use of City 

facilities by third persons or organizations. In addition, no building use permit shall be issued to 

an individual, group or organization that will be charging admissions or fees with the primary 

purpose of private monetary gain. Use of the building will be to further the public good and benefit 

the community in the arts, social endeavors, and other worthwhile projects. 

 

Certificates of insurance must be obtained and provided to the City for any third-party 

entities that lease the Senior Center facilities. Any third-party entities that lease the Senior Center 

facilities must carry event coverage with the Senior Center and the City listed as additional insured. 

 

This Lease shall terminate at the end of the initial term or such additional terms as may be 

agreed upon between the parties in accordance with this Lease. 

 

This Lease shall terminate earlier if at any time Operator breaches any of the terms of this 

Lease.  Such breach shall be specified by the City to Operator in writing and Operator shall have 

sixty (60) days within which to cure such breach or such additional period of time as may be agreed 

upon by the City in writing.  If the breach has not been remedied within the time specified in this 

section, notice of termination may be given by the City to Operator in writing at a time after the 

date upon which such breach should have been remedied. The notice of termination shall specify 

a date by which Operator shall surrender the premises which date shall not be sooner than thirty 

(30) days from the date of notice of termination. 

 

Operator shall have the same right to terminate this Lease upon a breach of this Lease by 

the City in the same manner and subject to the same conditions as are set forth in the immediately 

preceding paragraph. The right of either party to terminate this Lease upon its breach shall not 

constitute the exclusive remedy for such breach, and the injured party shall have the right to 

recover damages, terminate the Lease or both. 

 

SURRENDER AT EXPIRATION: 

 

Condition of Premises.  Upon expiration of the term or earlier termination on account of 

default, Operator shall deliver all keys to the City and surrender the premises in first-class 

condition and broom clean.  Alterations constructed with permission from the City shall not be 

removed or restored to the original condition unless the terms of permission for the alteration so 

require. Depreciation and wear from ordinary use for the purpose for which the premises were let 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 7 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

need not be restored, but all repairs for which the Operator is responsible shall be completed to the 

latest practical date prior to such surrender.  The Operator's obligations under this paragraph shall 

be subordinate to the provisions of the section of this Lease entitled DAMAGE AND 

DESTRUCTION. 

 

Fixtures. 

 

a.  All fixtures placed upon the premises during the term, other than Operator's trade 

fixtures, shall, at the City's option become the property of the City. Movable 

furniture, decorations, floor coverings other than hard surface bonded or adhesively 

fixed flooring, curtains, blinds, furnishings, fixtures and equipment shall remain the 

property of the Operator if placed on the premises by Operator. 

 

b. If the City so elects, the Operator shall remove any or all fixtures which would 

otherwise remain the property of the City, and shall repair any physical damage 

resulting from the removal. If the Operator fails to remove such fixtures and 

equipment, the City may do so and charge the cost to Operator with interest at five 

(5) percent per annum from the date of billing. The Operator shall remove all 

furnishings, furniture, trade fixtures and equipment which remain the property of 

the Operator. If the Operator fails to do so, this shall be an abandonment of the 

property, and the City may retain the property and all rights of the Operator with 

respect to it shall cease or, by notice in writing given to Operator within twenty (20) 

days after removal was required, the City may elect to hold the Operator to his 

obligation of removal. If the City elects to require the Operator to remove, the City 

may affect a removal and place the property in public storage for the Operator's 

account. The Operator shall be liable to the City for the cost of removal, 

transportation to storage, and storage, with interest at five (5) percent per annum on 

all such expenses from the date of billing by the City. 

 

c. The time for removal of any property or fixtures which the Operator is required to 

remove from the premises upon termination shall be as follows: 

 

1) On or before the date the Lease terminates because of expiration of the original 

or a renewal term or upon default. 

 

2) Within thirty (30) days after notice from the City requiring such removal where 

the property to be removed is a fixture which the Operator is not required to 

remove except after such notice by the City, and such date would fall after the 

date on which the Operator would be required to remove other property. 

 

Holdover.  If the Operator does not vacate the premises at the time required, the City shall 

have the option to treat the Operator as a tenant from month to month, subject to all of the 

provisions of this Lease except the provisions for term and removal. Failure of the Operator to 

remove fixtures, furniture, furnishings or trade fixtures and equipment which the Operator is 

required to remove under this Lease shall constitute a failure to vacate to which this paragraph 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 8 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

shall apply if the property not removed will substantially interfere with occupancy of the premises 

by another Operator or with occupancy by the City for any purpose including preparation for a 

new Operator. 

 

If a month-to-month tenancy results from a holdover by the Operator under this paragraph, 

the tenancy shall be terminable at the end of any monthly period on written notice from the City 

given not less than thirty (30) days prior to the termination date which shall be specified in the 

notice.  Operator waives any notice which would otherwise be provided by law with respect to a 

month-to-month tenancy. 

 

MUTUAL TERMINATION: 

 

 Notwithstanding any other provision of this lease, either party may terminate this lease 

upon sixty (60) days written notice to the other party with or without cause. 

 

TERMINATION: 

 

 In the event of a default, the lease may be terminated at the option of the City by written 

notice to Operator. Whether or not the lease is terminated by the election of the City or otherwise, 

the City shall be entitled to recover damages from Operator for the default, and the City may 

reenter, take possession of the premises, and remove any persons or property by legal action or by 

self-help with the use of reasonable force and without liability for damages and without having 

accepted a surrender. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS: 

 

Non-waiver.  Waiver by either party of strict performance of any provision of this Lease 

shall not be a waiver of or prejudice the party's right to require strict performance of the same 

provision in the future or of any other provision. 

 

Attorney Fees.  If suit or action or arbitration is instituted in connection with any 

controversy arising out of this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover, in addition 

to costs, such sum as the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney fees both on trial and appeal, 

if any. 

 

Succession.  Subject to the above-stated limitations on transfer of Operator's interest, this 

Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their respective successors and 

assigns. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument in duplicate on the 

date and year first hereinabove written. 

 

 

 

 



 

LEASE FOR OPERATION OF Page 9 of 9 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY: 

  

CITY OF RAINIER, OREGON,

 

 

 

 

  

a Municipal Corporation 

 

 

Date Signed______________________ 

 

 

By:______________________________ 

     Jerry Cole, Mayor

 

  

 

Attested: 

 

 

By:______________________________ 

 W. Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator 

      

 

 

OPERATOR: 

 

RAINIER SENIOR CENTER 

 

 

Date Signed_______________________ 

 

 

By:______________________________     

President 

 

 

By:______________________________     

Secretary 

 



City of Rainier 

Senior and Multigenerational Housing Committee 

 

The following citizens have expressed interest in being members of the committee: 

-Randy Johnstun 

-Mike Avent 

-Paul Rice 

 

Staff recommends appointing them.  

 

Planning Commissioner Paul Langner has agreed to serve as chair, and staff recommends that he 

be appointed to that position. 

 

Councilors Connie Budge and Jeremy Howell have agreed to serve on the committee as the 

council representatives.  

 

 







 

 

 

page 1 of 5 

                       STRONGWORK ARCHITECTURE, LLC / 3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A, Portland, OR 97222 / alan@strongworkarchitecture.com / 503.966.4030 

 

 

 

ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES PROPOSAL 

 

08/04/2022 

 

PROJECT 
City of Rainier – City Hall – Facility Assessment 

 

FOR 
City of Rainier 

Rainier, Oregon 

Contact: Sue Lawrence 

 

Hi Sue, 

 

Per our phone conversation, information delivered via email, and site visit on Wednesday June 29, 

2022, I understand that the City of Rainier would like to perform an assessment on, and consider 

modifications to, the existing City Hall building. 

 

The end goal of this work is to provide a document that captures existing as-built building conditions, 

deficiencies, and a preferred strategy for phased modifications. This information will be delivered in a 

Facility Plan Report document. 

 

The targeted items for review include but are not limited to: 

- Roof, gutter, and downspout replacement 

- New windows 

- Addition of staff breakroom 

- Relocation of server equipment 

- Repurposing of existing second floor server room 

- Prep for future backup generator 

- Main floor existing modifications 

- Main floor restroom modifications 

- Building systems modifications as needed 

- Structural modifications as needed 

- Lower level window well improvements 

 

Our detailed proposal for project scope and fee is described in the Agreement below.  

 

Please don’t hesitate to reach out with any questions. Thank you for the opportunity! 

 

Sincerely, 

Alan 

 

 

 

Alan Armstrong, AIA 

 



 

 

 

page 2 of 5 

                       STRONGWORK ARCHITECTURE, LLC / 3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A, Portland, OR 97222 / alan@strongworkarchitecture.com / 503.966.4030 

PROPOSAL 
Architectural services agreement between the following parties: 

 

City of Rainier, Oregon “Client” 

106 West B Street 

Rainier, OR 97048 

Contact: Sue Lawrence 

 

Strongwork Architecture, LLC “Architect” 

3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A 

Portland, OR 97222 

Contact: Alan Armstrong 

 

For the purposes of this proposal and related scope of work, the following apply: 

 

The term “planning level” is synonymous with “conceptual” and implies a product that is developed 

to a level adequate to inform general decision making. The product is non-exhaustive and lacks any 

level of finite detail. The product could be considered as describing a general range of possible 

options. 

 

Architect will engage the following sub-consultants to assist with the work described below and will 

markup sub-consultant fees 10%. 

- Structural Engineer – Valar Consulting Engineers 

- MEP/LV – Interface Engineers 

- Building scan – A Quality Measurement 

 

The anticipated schedule for the work described below is 2-3 months from notice to proceed. 

 

The Client and Architect agree as follows: 

 

SCOPE OF WORK    
 

Architect’s scope of work will be organized with the following tasks and activities: 

 

Task 1 – Facility and Needs Assessment 

 

The purpose of this task is to assess existing building condition in general and specific to defined 

Client needs. This task will be completed through analysis of the existing facility and through 

workshops with the Client 

 

Activities include: 

- Document interior and exterior of existing City Hall building 

o Facilitate building laser scan: Laser scan will produce a 3D virtual walkthrough tour 

of the building with measurement capability, as well as a 2D .dxf CAD drawing of 

the floor plans of the building. Laser scan does not produce a detailed LIDAR or 

point cloud product.  

o Procure supplementary measurements and photographs as needed 

o Develop as-built drawings of existing building 

- Site visit for facility assessment 

o Tour City Hall building with MEP and structural sub-consultants to assess current 

conditions. 

- Development of facility modifications options 

o Coordinate with sub-consultants to create two options for a phased approach to 

facility modifications 



 

 

 

page 3 of 5 

                       STRONGWORK ARCHITECTURE, LLC / 3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A, Portland, OR 97222 / alan@strongworkarchitecture.com / 503.966.4030 

- Workshops 

o Workshop 1 – in-person collaborative meeting with Client stakeholders to discuss 

wish list and assess building and user needs 

o Workshop 2 – virtual collaborative meeting to review facility modifications options 

 

Meetings 

- One site visit to assess existing building and site, and to coordinate laser scan 

- One site visit for additional measurements and photographs 

- Two workshops, one in-person, one virtual 

- Coordination calls as needed 

 

Deliverables 

- As-built drawings in PDF format 

- Virtual tour in web based format 

- Meeting minutes 

 

Task 2 – Facility Plan Development 

 

The purpose of this task is to document existing conditions, building and user needs assessment, 

phased modifications proposal, and cost opinion into a single document to assist in Client decision 

making.  

 

Activities to include: 

 

- Opinion of probable cost 

o Architect will provide an approximate opinion of probable cost range, organized by 

proposed modification and phase* 

- Develop a Facility Plan document.  

- Conduct a virtual Draft Facility Plan meeting to review findings of the project, review the 

draft document, and review the proposed modifications. 

- Make one revision to the Facility Plan to incorporate Client feedback. 

- Deliver Final Facility Plan. 

 

Meetings 

- Draft Facility Plan Review meeting - virtual 

- Three virtual coordination meetings 

 

Deliverables 

- One electronic copy (PDF) of the Draft Facility Plan submittal  

- One electronic (PDF and .docx) copy of the meeting Agenda and Minutes  

- One electronic (PDF) copy of the Final Facility Plan. 

 

*Notes on Opinion of Probable Cost 

- The Opinion is supplied only for the guidance of the Client 

- Architect has no control over costs or market conditions 

- The Opinion will be based on Architect’s recent experience and adjusted to accommodate 

factors known to the Architect at the time the Opinion is prepared 

- Architect does not guarantee the accuracy of the Opinion as compared to actual bids or cost 

to the Client 

- If the Client desires a higher level of confidence in predicting anticipated construction cost 

than provided in the Opinion, the Client should retain the services of a professional cost 

estimator for that purpose. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

page 4 of 5 

                       STRONGWORK ARCHITECTURE, LLC / 3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A, Portland, OR 97222 / alan@strongworkarchitecture.com / 503.966.4030 

FEE  
 

The fee will be billed on a percentage complete basis. 

 

Any services in addition to those listed above will be billed hourly at the rates listed below, after prior 

approval from the client. 

 

Hourly rates:  

Principal Architect -   $163/hr 

QA/QC Specifications -    $150/hr 

Project Architect -    $120/hr 

Drafter/Vizualization -    $90/hr 

 

If, after execution of this agreement and the start of design work, the Client decides to stop work for 

any reason, a percentage of this total fee will be invoiced equal to the percentage of work performed. 

 

FEE 

 

 
 

REIMBURSABLES 

Reimbursables will be billed at cost. Reimbursables included but are not limited to: printing costs, 

mileage, parking fees, permit fees, county recording fees, records search fees, etc. Estimated 

reimbursable expenses to be $1000.  

 

ENTIRE PROPOSAL 

The signatures below represent acceptance of the entire proposal including the scope of work, fee, 

attachments, and exclusions listed above as well as the terms of agreement listed below. 

 

SIGNATURES  

If you agree to the above terms, please sign below and return. I will then return a signed copy for 

your records. Thank you for the opportunity!  

 

 

 

 

print     sign     Date  

(Client)              

  

 

 

 

Alan Armstrong, Authorized Member, Strongwork Architecture, LLC            Date 

 



 

 

 

page 5 of 5 

                       STRONGWORK ARCHITECTURE, LLC / 3309 SE Sherrett St, Unit A, Portland, OR 97222 / alan@strongworkarchitecture.com / 503.966.4030 

TERMS OF AGREEMENT  

 

This Agreement for professional services has been entered into with Strongwork Architecture LLC (Architect) and City of Rainier 

(Client).   

Performance of Services: The Architect shall provide architectural services for the Project as described in this Agreement. The 

Architect shall perform its services consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily provided by architects practicing in 

the same or similar locality under the same or similar circumstances. The Architect shall perform its services as expeditiously as 

is consistent with such professional skill and care and the orderly progress of the Project. The Architect shall assist the Owner 

in determining consulting services required for the Project. 

Use of Documents: Drawings, specifications and other documents prepared by the Architect are the Architect’s Instruments of 

Service, and are for the Owner’s use solely with respect to constructing the Project. The Architect shall retain all common law, 

statutory and other reserved rights, including the copyright. Upon completion of the construction of the Project, provided that 

the Owner substantially performs its obligations under this Agreement, the Architect grants to the Owner a license to use the 

Architect’s Instruments of Service as a reference for maintaining, altering and adding to the Project. The Owner agrees to 

indemnify the Architect from all costs and expenses related to claims arising from the Owner’s use of the Instruments of 

Service without retaining the Architect. When transmitting copyright-protected information for use on the Project, the 

transmitting party represents that it is either the copyright owner of the information, or has permission from the copyright 

owner to transmit the information for its use on the Project. 

Betterment: If, due to the Architect’s error, any required item or component of the project is omitted from the Construction 

Documents produced by Architect, the Architect’s liability shall be limited to the difference between the cost of adding the 

item at the time of discovery of the omission and the cost had the item or component been included in the construction 

documents. In no event will the Architect be responsible for any cost or expense that provides betterment, upgrade or 

enhancement of the project.  

Indemnification: The Client shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify and hold harmless the Architect, his or her 

officers, directors, employees, agents and sub consultants from and against all damage, liability and costs, including reasonable 

attorney’s fees and cost of defense, to the extent caused by the performance of the services under this Agreement, excepting 

only those damages, liabilities or costs attributable to the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Architect.   

Jobsite Safety: Neither the professional activities of the Architect nor the presence of his sub consultants at a construction site, 

shall relieve the Contractor of the Contractor’s obligations, duties and responsibilities including, but not limited to, 

construction means, methods, sequence, techniques or procedures necessary for performing or coordinating all portions of the 

work of construction in accordance with the contract documents and any health/safety precautions required by regulatory 

agencies.   

Information Provided by Others: The Architect shall indicate to the Client the information needed for rendering of services 

hereunder. The Client shall provide to the Architect such information as is available, and the Architect shall be entitled to rely 

upon the accuracy and completeness thereof. Accordingly, the Client agrees to indemnify and hold the Architect harmless from 

any claim, liability or cost for injury or loss arising or allegedly arising from errors, omissions or inaccuracies in documents or 

other information provided by the Client and or Client’s consultants.   

Construction Observation: The Architect may visit the project at appropriate intervals during construction to become generally 

familiar with the progress and quality of the contractor’s work and to determine if the work is proceeding in general 

accordance with the Contract Documents. The Client has not retained the Architect to make detailed inspections or to provide 

exhaustive or continuous project review and observation services. The Architect does not guarantee the performance of, and 

shall have no responsibility for, the acts, safety procedures, programs, or omissions of any contractor, subcontractor, and 

supplier or by other entity furnishing materials or performing any work on the project.   

Dispute Resolution: Any claims or disputes between the Client and Architect arising out of the services to be provided by the 

Architect or out of this Agreement shall, as a condition precedent to litigation, be submitted to non-binding mediation. The 

Client and the Architect agree to include a similar mediation agreement with all contractors, subcontractors, sub consultants, 

suppliers and fabricators, providing for mediation as the primary method for dispute resolution among all parties.  

Termination, Suspension, or Abandonment: In the event of termination, suspension or abandonment of the Project by the 

Owner, the Architect shall be compensated for services performed. The Owner’s failure to make payments in accordance with 

this Agreement shall be considered substantial nonperformance and sufficient cause for the Architect to suspend or terminate 

services. Either the Architect or the Owner may terminate this Agreement after giving no less than seven days’ written notice if 

the Project is suspended for more than 90 days, or if the other party substantially fails to perform in accordance with the terms 

of this Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall terminate one year from the date of 

Substantial Completion. 

 











City Administrator Report 

September 12, 2022 Rainier Council Meeting 

 

Mayor Cole and Members of the Council, 

 

Over the past few weeks, I attended Rainier Chamber of Commerce board meetings July 20 and 

August 17 and a regular chamber meeting August 11. 

 

On July 22, I met with Mayor Cole, Public Works Director Sue Lawrence and Columbia County 

Commissioner Casey Garrett about a project to place historic signage along the riverfront trail.  

I attended a meeting at the senior center right after with Councilor Scott Cooper and Director Jan 

Rich about updating the city’s agreement with the facility.  

 

A meeting was facilitated July 25 by the county emergency manager about the logistics of setting 

up cooling centers, and I attended. The following day, I uploaded the city’s newly passed 

ordinances for Municode and the Department of Land Conservation and Development.  

 

There was a tour of the Oregon Manufacturing Innovation Center in Scappoose August 3 put on 

by Oregon Business and Industry. I was among those present. 

 

A League of Oregon Cities small cities meeting was held in Clatskanie August 5. I attended, 

along with Councilors Budge and duPlessis.  

 

I spent the week of August 9 doing election duties and attended the library board meeting on the 

12th.  

 

On August 17, I attended the Columbia County Housing Implementation Plan meeting. The 

following day, I tagged the abandoned vessel that had been on the beach as an imminent threat to 

public health and safety.  

 

Along with Councilor Cooper, I met with Jan Rich August 24 at the Senior Center to work on the 

updated agreement.  

 

Finally, I participated in a webinar August 30 put on by the state Office of Emergency 

Management for grant opportunities that could possibly be used to fund the Fox Creek 

improvements. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

W. Scott Jorgensen, Executive MPA 

City Administrator 

 


	5 Bank Reconciliation - July 2022
	5 Bank Reconciliation- June 2022
	5 Budget Comparison- July 2022
	5 Budget Comparison- June 2022
	5 Budget Variance- July 2022
	5 Budget Variance- June 2022
	5 CC 07252022 minutes
	5 Check Register- July 2022
	5 Check Register- June 2022
	5 Vacation Accruals
	6b Banner Quote
	6b Banners
	6b Kelso article
	6c LAND USE CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT--August 29, 2021 draft
	6d Senior Center Lease September 2022
	6e Senior and Multigenerational Housing Committee
	6f Scandale Library Board Application
	6i Proposal - Rainier City Hall - 2022-08-04
	7b LOC Priorities
	8 City Administrator Report

